STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Oconee County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

JAMES TINSLEY,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001435

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Taylor D Gilliam
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 11 2017

PETITIONER S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR Court err in denying Petitioner relief where appellate counsel failed to brief the trial court's refusal to charge the jury on the distinction between larceny and receiving stolen goods, and not instructing as requested at the trial that if the jury found Petitioner was the thief who stole the goods, the jury could not have found him guilty of receiving stolen goods?

STATEMENT

This case has a lengthy and convoluted procedural background. An Oconee County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for possession of a stolen vehicle and four counts of receiving stolen goods in May 2008.¹ App. 733 – 742. He proceeded to a jury trial in front of the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. on July 28, 2008. David Wagner represented the State, and Petitioner represented himself with the assistance of standby counsel, R. Daniel Day. The facts giving rise to the indictment are as follows:

On January 25, 2008 Detective Errin Jenkins of the Iredell County Sheriff's Office in Statesville, North Carolina met with an individual who had purchased two "four wheelers" at a price so low that he was concerned they were stolen.² App. 108 line 3 – App. 109 line 23. After checking the VIN/serial numbers, Jenkins concluded that the four wheelers had been stolen. App. 108 lines 18 – 21. The buyer provided Jenkins with a bill of sale for one of the units which listed the seller as Petitioner. App. 109 lines 15 – 23. The bill of sale listed an address for Petitioner in Greenville, South Carolina. Jenkins worked with law enforcement in Greenville County and Oconee County to recover the four wheelers. App. 109 line 24 – App. 111 line 1.

Darrell Slusser, who ran an RV dealership in Spartanburg, South Carolina, filed an incident report with law enforcement after he discovered a camper had gone missing in December 2007. App. 144 line 5 – App. 145 line 17. The following month, January 2008, Eric Spears, the general manager for Carry-On Trailer in Lavonia, Georgia similarly discovered that a

¹ Three counts of receiving stolen goods were consolidated into one at trial. App. 332 lines 11 – 14.

² The four wheelers were valued between \$7,900 and \$12,771; they were sold for \$5,000 each. App. 112 line 25 – App. 113 line 13.

trailer had been stolen from his business. App. 149 line 21 – App. 150 line 22. Around the same time period, Jamal Haddad, the owner of a Polaris dealership by the name of Carolina Power Sports in Waynesville, North Carolina reported eight stolen ATV's. App. 156 line 7 – App. 159 line 16. Three of them were recovered in Oconee County. App. 159 line 17 – App. 160 line 17. An antique shop called Moose Crossing near the Polaris dealership also had a twenty-four foot trailer stolen around the same timeframe. App. 168 line 17 – App. 169 line 1. The trailer and two ATV's from Carolina Power Sports were recovered from a storage unit rented to Petitioner. App. 169 lines 6 – 12.

Officer Russ Conner spoke with Petitioner and his co-defendant, Hogan Hugh Justice on January 30, 2008. App. 173 line 10 – App. 174 line 6. Petitioner stated that he sold three of the ATV's on behalf of his co-defendant who had gotten them at a government auction. App. 174 lines 7 – 11. Justice similarly told Officer Conner that Petitioner had acquired the ATV's at a government auction and "he was just trying to help Mr. Tinsley sell them." App. 174 lines 12 – 14. Petitioner told Conner that it had been over a year since he had been to Waynesville, North Carolina, the location of Carolina Power Sports which had reported ATV's as stolen. App. 174 lines 17 – 20. Petitioner repeatedly maintained his innocence. App. 184 lines 12 – 15.

Justice testified at trial on behalf of the prosecution. App. 222. He claimed that he and Petitioner found a camper in Duncan, South Carolina, stole it, and brought to a gold mine in Oconee County. App. 225 lines 8 – 13. He stated that they also took some trailers from Lavonia, Georgia and ATV's from Waynesville, North Carolina. App. 225 line 21 – App. 226 line 5. All of these items were initially brought back to the gold mine area and then taken to a leased storage unit before being sold. App. 226 lines 6 – 11. Following a sale of any one of

these pieces of equipment, Justice and Petitioner would subtract the expense and split the profit in equal shares. App. 223 lines 6 – 12.

Following Justice's testimony, the State rested. App. 256 line 24 – App. 257 line 2. Petitioner then moved for a directed verdict due to a material variance between the charges and the evidence offered at trial. App. 257 line 20 – App. 258 line 14. He argued that because the State sought to prove the elements of larceny during its case-in-chief, rather than the indicted offenses of receiving stolen goods, Petitioner could not have been found guilty of receiving or possessing stolen property. Id.

The trial judge reviewed case law cited by Petitioner in support of his directed verdict motion and found that the underlying statute pertaining to receiving stolen goods, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180, was amended in 1993 after the publication of the cases offered by Petitioner. App. 258 lines 15 – 19. The trial court's ruling on the issue was as follows:

Looking at the cases that we have addressed, the Court's of the opinion that public policy dictates that a defendant cannot be convicted of both larceny and receiving stolen goods. However, the State should be able to elect whether [it] could try the defendant for larceny or receiving stolen goods or possession of stolen goods. He cannot be convicted of both.

In this case the defendant has not been indicted of larceny or the receiving stolen goods and receiving stolen goods; therefore, there's no way he can be convicted of both. The statute itself refers to possession, and the Court's of the opinion that if you steal it, you can still possess the stolen property. However, the Court agrees with Hamilton and McNeil, if you stole it, you cannot receive it, cannot be charged with receiving. Therefore, I'm going to deny the motion. But the Court does agree he cannot be convicted of - - in this particular case that's not the process, not how this case is set up. Your motion is denied.

App. 264 line 11 – App. 265 line 4. (citing State v. Hamilton, 172 S.C. 453, 174 S.E. 396 (1934) and State v. McNeil, 314 S.C. 473, 445 S.E.2d 461 (Ct. App. 1994)).³

³ At least one case that came out after the amendment of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180 in 1993, State v. Wiles, cites McNeil in a footnote: “[T]he possession of a stolen vehicle statute requires

The jury convicted Petitioner of possession of a stolen vehicle and all four counts of receiving stolen goods. App. 372 lines 12 – 22. Subsequently, Judge Nicholson sentenced Petitioner to a term of ten years, suspended upon the service of seven years along with probation for five years on the consolidated charges of receiving stolen goods. App. 386 lines 4 – 14. Petitioner was also sentenced to ten years' imprisonment suspended to five years upon service of seven years' probation, for the possession of a stolen vehicle charge. App. 386 line 16 – App. 387 line 2. On the remaining receiving stolen goods charge that was not consolidated, Petitioner was sentenced to a term of five years' imprisonment, suspended to probation for five years. App. 387 lines 4 – 14.

Represented on appeal by Appellate Defender Tristian Shaffer, Petitioner's conviction was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. State v. Tinsley, No. 12-UP-32 (S.C. Ct. App. May 30, 2012). Appellate counsel failed to appeal the issue of Petitioner's jury charge request. Petitioner filed a Petition of Rehearing. The South Carolina Court of Appeals denied the Petition on September 19, 2012. Petitioner then filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 2, 2012. The South Carolina Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 6, 2014.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on April 4, 2013.⁴ App. 389 - 407. Petitioner's application contained allegations of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel and various constitutional violations, including Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment due process violations. App. 392 – 403.

that the defendant receive the goods from someone who actually stole them; he cannot receive the vehicles from himself.” 383 S.C. 151, 679 S.E.2d 172 n.1 (2009)

⁴ At the time of filing, Petitioner's direct appeal was still pending.

The State filed its Return and Motion to Dismiss without Prejudice on July 25, 2013. App. 408 – 410. A Conditional Order of Dismissal signed by the Chief Administrative Judge in the Tenth Judicial Circuit was filed on September 30, 2013, finding that Petitioner's application had been filed prematurely. App. 413 – 415. Petitioner filed an objection to the Conditional Order of Dismissal on October 11, 2013. App. 416 – 419.

Petitioner filed a second application for post-conviction relief which is the subject of this appeal on December 16, 2014 after his direct appeal was finalized. App. 420 – 436. Petitioner's second application contained allegations similar to his first—namely, that his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments were violated by appellate counsel's failure to raise certain issues. App. 423 – 434. The State made its Return on or about March 13, 2015. App. 439 – 445. Petitioner filed a reply brief in opposition to the State's Return and requested to proceed *pro se* on March 30, 2015. App. 449 – 451. Petitioner subsequently filed a "Second Supplemental Issue for Post-Conviction Relief" on June 11, 2015. App. 452 – 459. This filing includes an additional allegation regarding the plea deal of Petitioner's co-defendant. App. 452 – 459.

On June 26, 2015, Petitioner filed a Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment. App. 460 – 466. Petitioner simultaneously filed an "Affidavit of James Tinsley in Support of Applicant's Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment". App. 467 – 470. Soon thereafter, on September 22, 2015, Petitioner filed a First Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief which contained allegations of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel as well as allegations regarding due process violations. App. 471 – 478. On December 10, 2015, the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes in the Tenth Judicial Circuit, merged

the premature application for post-conviction relief filed April 4, 2013 and the second application filed December 16, 2014. App. 479 - 480.

Petitioner then filed a "Supplemental Issue for Post-Conviction Relief" dated December 16, 2015 wherein he alleges that he was denied effective assistance of counsel on appeal due to appellate counsel's failure to brief the issue of a material variance between the State's evidence and the indictments. App. 481 - 485.

An evidentiary hearing was conducted on February 10, 2016 before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. App. 486. Hugh Welborn initially represented Petitioner but was relieved at the start of the hearing. App. 495 lines 17 - 18. Patrick Schmeckpeper represented the State. Petitioner, his father, and Petitioner's co-defendant Hogan Justice testified during the hearing. Judge Goldsmith summarily granted judgment in the State's favor regarding two of Petitioner's claims: 1) Petitioner's sentence was disparate from his co-defendant as a result of the trial judge's vindictiveness; and 2) Defects in Petitioner's indictments violated his due process rights. App. 519 lines 3 - 11.

Judge Goldsmith allowed both parties to submit written memoranda following the hearing. Petitioner filed a "Supplemental Affidavit of James Tinsley in Support of Applicant's Motion for Summary Judgment" on February 23, 2016. App. 598 - 602. He also filed an "Objection and Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Decision to Grant the State Partial Summary Judgment" on March 7, 2016. App. 603 - 612. The State filed a Memorandum of Law on April 4, 2016. App. 613 - 627. Petitioner submitted a response brief on April 13, 2016. App. 628 - 650. The State filed a Return to Applicant's Objection and Motion for Reconsideration on May 4, 2016. App. 651 - 657. Petitioner filed a "Reply Brief to

Respondent's Return to Applicant's Motion for Reconsideration" on May 13, 2016. App. 658 – 668.

On May 10, 2016, Judge Goldsmith issued his order denying Petitioner relief. App. 669 – 690. He ruled that Petitioner failed to meet his burden with respect to each of his allegations of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. App. 671 – 676. Judge Goldsmith also ruled that Petitioner waived his right to counsel. App. 677 – 681. Regarding Petitioner's allegation that the state failed to disclose information under Brady v. Maryland,⁵ Judge Goldsmith concluded that Petitioner "failed to show that the evidence that was purportedly suppressed was material to guilt or punishment." App. 681. Additionally, Judge Goldsmith ruled that Petitioner failed to support his claim regarding after-discovered evidence because he failed to show that the purported new evidence would probably change the result of a new trial was granted. App. 682.

On May 26, 2016, Petitioner filed a Motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCF, to Alter or Amend the Order of Dismissal. App. 691 – 725. On June 20, 2016, the State filed a Return to Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend. App. 726 – 728. On June 21, 2015, Judge Goldsmith issued an Order denying Petitioner's motion. App. 729 – 730. Petitioner filed a Reply Brief on June 27, 2016. App. 731 – 734.

This Petition follows.

⁵ 373 U.S. 83, 90, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 1198, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963)

ARGUMENT

The PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief where appellate counsel failed to brief the trial court's refusal to charge the jury on the distinction between larceny and receiving stolen goods, and not instructing as requested at trial that if the jury found Petitioner was the thief who stole the goods, the jury could not have found him guilty of receiving stolen goods.

Petitioner lacked effective assistance of appellate counsel when counsel failed to brief the trial judge's refusal to charge that if Petitioner was the thief of the stolen property, he could not be found guilty of receiving stolen goods. Petitioner moved for a directed verdict at the close of the prosecution's case based on the fact that the State elicited testimony that Petitioner was the thief rather than the receiver of stolen goods. App. 257 line 20 – App. 258 line 14. After the denial of his motion, Petitioner offered written jury instructions to the trial judge, which read in relevant part: "That if the jury believes [Petitioner] committed the theft of the goods, they must find [him] not guilty of receiving stolen goods and possessing a stolen vehicle." App. 622 – 623. This request was in line with the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's directed verdict motion: "[T]he court agrees with Hamilton and McNeil, if you stole it, you cannot receive it, cannot be charged with receiving." App. 264 lines 23 – 25.

The PCR Court ruled that the issue of jury charges related to larceny and receiving stolen goods was not adequately preserved for appeal, meaning appellate counsel was not deficient for omitting them as an issue on appeal. App. 665. Citing Whipple v. State,⁶ the judge concluded that a jury charge must be requested or objected to on the record in order to remain

⁶ 324 S.C. 43, 476 S.E.2d 683 (1996).

preserved for appeal, even if a proposed charge was submitted to the trial court in writing. However, because the trial judge advised Petitioner that *he was not required to object in order to preserve the record*, this issue was preserved and should have been argued on appeal. App. 78 line 25 – App. 79 line 9. Furthermore, Whipple has been clarified, and the trial judge erred in his interpretation of the preservation standard.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has previously held that a jury charge must be requested or objected to on the record in order to remain preserved for appeal, even if a proposed charge was submitted to the trial court in writing. Whipple, *supra*. However, because Petitioner's case differs from Whipple in multiple ways and because a different preservation rule is applicable to the case *sub judice*, this issue was preserved for appeal.

The defendant in Whipple sought an instruction concerning parole eligibility. 324 S.C. at 52, 476 S.E.2d at 688. The court did not give the requested instructions, and the Supreme Court held that Whipple's failure to object constituted a waiver of his right to complain on appeal. *Id.* Unlike the defendant in Whipple, however, the trial judge in Petitioner's case ruled on the record that he would not give the requested charges. App. 333 line 14 – App. 334 line 9.

Additionally, this Court set out the preservation rule in State v. Johnson: “[W]hen a party requests a jury charge and, after opportunity for discussion, the trial judge declines the charge, it is unnecessary to preserve the point on appeal, to renew the request at conclusion of the court's instruction.” 333 S.C. 62, 66, 508 S.E.2d 29, 31 (1998).

By failing to give the requested charge, the jury was left to assume that there was no distinction between larceny and receiving stolen goods. Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing regarding this issue:

The notice part of the indictment placed me on notice to show up in the courtroom and be prepared to defend myself against the claim that I had received the goods

from somebody else. And then when I got to trial, I ended up having to defend myself against the claim that I had actually stolen the goods. So that issue - - charge should have been dismissed on that and raised on appeal and wasn't.

App. 491 lines 8 – 15.

Applicant requested jury charges which were relevant to his case, obtained a ruling on the issue, and therefore preserved this matter for appellate review. A criminal defendant is constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S.Ct. 830 (1985). Appellate counsel is held to the same standard as trial counsel. Generally, in analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, a court applies the Strickland⁷ test just as it would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 616, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged, the Applicant must show that appellate counsel's performance was (1) deficient; and (2) that there was prejudice from the appellate counsel's deficiency. Id.

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant's case. McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 40, 661 S.E.2d 354, 357 (2008). "The PCR applicant has the burden of proving both prongs." Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109-10, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). To show prejudice, the applicant must show that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

⁷ 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

To be effective, appellate counsel must give assistance of such quality as to make appellate proceedings fair. Id., citing Evitts, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S.Ct. 830 (1999). When a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is based upon failure to raise viable issues, the court must examine the record to determine “whether appellate counsel failed to present significant and obvious issues on appeal.” Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir. 1986).

The issue that appellate counsel failed to argue in Petitioner’s case was not frivolous. On the contrary, it was meritorious. Appellate counsel should have known that. Appellate counsel’s decision not to present the issue was not a “deliberate, strategic tactic[],” under Griffin v. Warden, 277 S.C. 288, 286 S.E.2d 145 (1982). The trial judge should have crafted an instruction, based upon the testimony of the prosecution’s witness and Petitioner’s co-defendant, that clarified the law. Justice testified that he and Petitioner stole a camper, some trailers, and some ATV’s. App. 225 line 8 – App. 226 line 19. He further testified that it was a mutual idea to deal in the stolen property. App. 227 lines 6 – 8.

As a result of the State’s witness raising evidence regarding the alleged thefts and accusing Petitioner of being the principal thief, the jury had a right to understand the law that accompanied these facts. The jury needed to understand the law as it related to these facts which were offered by the prosecution’s witness.

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