ALAN WILSON  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

July 28, 2017

RECEIVED

JUL 28 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse  
Clerk, South Carolina Supreme Court  
Post Office Box 11330  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

**Re: James Tinsley v. State of South Carolina**  
**Appellate Case No. 2016-001435**  
**Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-37-0272**

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

Enclosed please find the original and six (6) copies of the Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari. By copy of this letter we are serving opposing counsel today.

Sincerely,

Lindsey A. McCallister  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 79054

LAM/dgr  
Enclosures

cc: Taylor D. Gilliam, Esquire (2 copies)

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding appellate counsel rendered effective assistance because Petitioner abandoned his request and waived any objection to the jury charge, so appellate counsel's failure to raise the issue on direct appeal was not deficient performance.**

Respondent concedes the PCR court incorrectly found Petitioner did not properly preserve the issue of his request for a jury instruction on the "thief defense" for direct appeal; however, Petitioner later abandoned the request and waived his objection to the jury charge. App. pp. 333-338, 370; Supp. App. p. 865. Therefore, the PCR court was still correct appellate counsel's conduct was not deficient because he could not have raised that issue on direct appeal.

Petitioner submitted a written request for five jury instructions on the following issues: (1) abandonment of involvement in any plan or scheme regarding the goods; (2) mere presence around the stolen goods; (3) the "thief defense"- that if he stole the items, he could not be convicted of receiving them; (4) involuntary and superficial possession; (5) knowledge of goods' stolen character. App. p. 333; Supp. App. p. 865. The "thief defense" instruction at issue reads: "That if the jury believes I committed the thefts of the goods, they must find me not guilty of receiving stolen goods and possessing a stolen vehicle. State v. Hamilton, 172 S.C. 453, 174 S.E.2d 396 (1934) (sic)." Supp. App. p. 865.

After the court reviewed Petitioner's five proposed instructions, the following exchange took place:

**Court:** [A]s far as mere presence, abandonment, talking about guilt, stolen knowledge character, I'm not going to charge that. Glad to hear you on involuntary and superficial possession. I'm not sure what you're asking me on that. . . .

**Petitioner:** I'm not really worried about that one Your Honor. It was the others because of my testimony I abandoned any involvement in it. And the mere presence the law is that the possession of stolen property (sic), you cannot be convicted based on mere presence alone.

**Court:** That's a legal question I have already made (sic) at the directed verdict stage. That's not a jury question. So I'm not going to charge on that. . . . You're not even charged with stealing so there's no way I can charge that. . . .

**Petitioner:** No, the mere presence has to do with possession.

. . .

**Court:** I think my charge on receiving stolen goods, possession of stolen vehicle will cover what you're saying. . . . So the possession, whether you want to call it constructive or whatever, mere presence is I think encompassed in that. What do you want me to say about mere presence? And as far as the abandonment, I heard no testimony that would indicate any abandonment. As to a defense, the first thing you have to do is admit you had knowledge. You deny knowledge. Okay. So I don't think abandonment is appropriate.

**Petitioner:** Okay, Your Honor.

**Court:** So I'm not going to charge abandonment. I'll listen to you on mere presence. What do you actually want?

**Petitioner:** Just what I said. To clarify for the jury that my mere presence around the property in and of itself would be insufficient to convict on.

App. 333-36. The trial court ultimately declined to give any of Petitioner's requested instructions, either finding them inappropriate or already encompassed in the standard charge.

App. 334-35. Because Petitioner requested an instruction on the thief defense, and the trial court denied it on the record, after allowing Petitioner to make arguments as to his requested charges, Petitioner properly preserved the issue at that point in the trial. See Rule 20, SCRCrimP (outlining the requirements for requesting jury instructions and objecting to a jury charge). However, Petitioner later abandoned the request and waived his objection to the jury charge as given. App. 370.

Even if a party properly raises an objection during trial, his right to argue error in regard to that objection on appeal may still be waived under certain circumstances. See State v. O'Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously raised objection can be

waived). This occurs when the party raising the objection indicates to the trial judge the party no longer has an objection to the issue previously raised. See State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding Brown’s issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge he had no objection to the instruction); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding Rios waived his right to allege error with a jury charge on appeal where the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the instructions given and Rios responded there were none); cf. Commonwealth v. Moury, 992 A.2d 162, 178 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2010) (“Generally, a defendant waives subsequent challenges to the propriety of the jury charge on appeal if he responds in the negative when the court asks whether additions or corrections to a jury charge are necessary.”). The charge given did not include Petitioner’s requested instruction on the thief defense, and the trial judge specifically questioned Petitioner as to whether he had any objection to the charge as given, and Petitioner answered in the negative. App. 370. When Petitioner failed to note his exception to the omission of the thief defense instruction, he waived the request and effectively agreed with the trial judge’s decision not to give the requested instruction. See Rios, 388 S.C. at 342, 696 S.E.2d at 612 (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”); see also Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”).

Petitioner cites State v. Johnson, 333 S.C. 62, 64 n. 1, 508 S.E.2d 29, 30 n. 1 (1998), for the proposition that further objection was not required after the charge was given where Petitioner requested a specific charge and the court denied the motion on the record, after a chance for discussion. Petitioner's case is distinguishable from Johnson, however, because of the trial judge's specific inquiry as to whether Petitioner had *any exceptions* to the charge as given. Notably, the trial judge did not ask if Petitioner had any *new* or *additional* exceptions to the charge; he asked if Petitioner had *any* exceptions to the charge as given. App. 369-70. Petitioner stated he did not, which constituted a waiver of any issue regarding the jury instructions. App. 370. Petitioner thereby abandoned his request for an instruction on the thief defense. Therefore, Petitioner waived the jury-instruction issue, and it could not have been raised for appellate review. Accordingly, the PCR court correctly found appellate counsel was not deficient in failing to raise the issue on direct appeal. See Legge v. State, 349 S.C. 222, 225, 562 S.E.2d 618, 620 (2002) ("Because the issue would not have been preserved for appeal, appellate counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise the issue.").

**II. Even if this Court finds the jury-instruction issue was preserved and could have been raised on direct appeal, Petitioner failed to prove deficient conduct because appellate counsel raised other issues he felt had a better chance of success on the merits, and appellate counsel is not required to raise every non-frivolous issue.**

A defendant is entitled to effective assistance of appellate counsel. Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 615, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999). Generally, in analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the PCR court applies the Strickland test just as it would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009). Thus, the PCR court must first determine whether appellate counsel's performance was deficient, and, if so, whether Petitioner was prejudiced by appellate counsel's deficient performance. Id.

“Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). While “it is still possible to bring a Strickland claim based on counsel’s failure to raise a particular claim. . . it is difficult to demonstrate that counsel was incompetent.” Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 288 (2000). This is because “[g]enerally, only when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome.” Id. (quoting Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir. 1986)).

The PCR court correctly found Petitioner has failed to establish appellate counsel’s conduct was deficient. Petitioner insists that if an argument is not frivolous, appellate counsel is required to raise it. PWC p. 13. This, however, is not the rule. To be effective, appellate counsel must give assistance of such quality as to make appellate proceedings fair. Southerland, 337 S.C. at 615-16, 524 S.E.2d at 836 (citing Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387 (1985)). This Court has repeatedly held that although appellate counsel is required to provide effective assistance of counsel, “appellate counsel is *not* required to raise every non-frivolous issue that is presented by the record.” Thrift v. State, 302 S.C. 535, 539, 397 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1990) (citing Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745 (1983)) (emphasis in original). “For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on . . . counsel a duty to raise every ‘colorable’ claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy. . . .” Jones, 463 U.S. at 754. Jones makes crystal clear there is no “constitutional right to compel appointed counsel to press non-frivolous points requested by the client, if counsel, as a matter of professional judgment, decides not to present those points.” Id. at 751. In fact, Jones notes that in order to render effective assistance to the client, appellate counsel must necessarily “winnow[]

out weaker arguments on appeal and focus[] on one central issue if possible. . . ” because “a brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments. . . .” Id. at 751-753.

Petitioner argues appellate counsel’s exclusion of the jury-instruction issue was not a “tactical decision” based on his professional judgment, but rather was the result of a “mistaken belief that the requested charge was improper or that the requested charge was not preserved.” PWC pp. 14-15. Petitioner, however, cites no evidence in the record to support this contention, as Petitioner did not call appellate counsel as a witness at the evidentiary hearing or otherwise introduce any evidence to overcome the Strickland presumption that appellate counsel’s decision was “made. . . in the exercise of reasonable of reasonable professional judgment.” Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Furthermore, appellate counsel could have reasonably concluded the issue actually briefed – i.e. the denial of Petitioner’s direct verdict motion – was a stronger issue because it was clearly preserved, both the State and Petitioner made extensive arguments in support of their positions, and the trial judge gave a thorough explanation of his ruling on the record. See App. pp. 257-65. In fact, documentation submitted in Petitioner’s “Appendix to Applicant’s Motion for Summary Judgment” indicates Petitioner and appellate counsel specifically discussed whether Petitioner’s brief would be amended to include the jury-instruction issue. Supp. App. II, pp. 2-3. Appellate counsel explained his reasoning for not doing so, writing, “[Former appellate counsel] raised the issue she thought, in her professional judgment . . . gave you the best chance of winning. . . . Although I feel the ‘thief defense’ may have enough merit to brief, I think the State has a very strong statutory interpretation argument. After all, the cases you cite are primarily concerning the statute prior to 1993.” Supp. App. 11, p. 3.

In this case, appellate counsel reviewed the record, researched the law, and “consciously decided not to brief the issue,” which “clearly supports the PCR judge’s finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective.” Thrift, 302 S.C. 535 at 539-40, 397 S.E.2d at 526. “[A]ppellate counsel who files a merits brief need not (and should not) raise every non-frivolous claim, but rather may select from among them in order to maximize the likelihood of success on appeal.” Robbins, 528 U.S. 259 at 288. Petitioner has failed to satisfy his burden of proving appellate counsel’s performance was deficient because appellate counsel consciously decided not to brief the issue, submitted a merits brief on another issue, and obtained a ruling on the merits.

**III. Even if this Court finds appellate counsel was deficient in failing to raise the jury-instruction issue, Petitioner was not prejudiced because he has not met his burden of establishing he was reasonably likely to succeed on the merits.**

Petitioner contends that because there was some evidence at trial tending to show he was involved in the theft of the goods, he was entitled to a jury instruction to the effect that if the jury believed he was the thief, then he could be convicted of receiving the stolen goods or possessing the stolen vehicle.<sup>5</sup> PWC p. 13-14. Even if this Court finds appellate counsel should have raised the jury-instruction issue, Petitioner’s PCR claim still must fail because he cannot prove he was prejudiced by the deficiency. To prove prejudice in this instance, Petitioner must show that, but for appellate counsel’s errors, there is a reasonable probability he would have prevailed on direct appeal. Anderson v. State, 354 S.C. 431, 434, 581 S.E.2d 834, 835 (2003). “It is not enough for [Petitioner] to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Virtually every act or omission of counsel would meet that test.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693.

---

<sup>5</sup> Petitioner made the same argument as part of his directed verdict motion at the end of the State’s case. App. 257-58. The issue of whether the trial court erroneously denied that motion was briefed on the merits in Petitioner’s direct appeal, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the trial court. Supp. App. 903-05.

Petitioner's argument on this issue fails for two distinct, but interrelated, reasons. First, Petitioner relies on cases distinguishable from his own because he was never charged with the larceny of the goods, and therefore, there was no possibility the jury would convict him of both the theft and the receipt. Second, the line of cases on which Petitioner relies is no longer directly applicable to the current "receiving stolen goods" statute, under which Petitioner was charged, because those cases were decided based on a previous version of the statute, which criminalized only the buying or receipt of stolen goods, not possession *on its own*. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180 (1991) ("It is unlawful for any person knowingly to buy or receive stolen goods, chattels or other property.") with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180 (1993) ("It is unlawful for a person to buy, receive, or possess stolen goods, chattels, or other property if the person knows or has reason to believe the goods, chattels, or property is stolen.").

Beginning with State v. Hamilton, this Court has long held a defendant may not be *convicted* of both the larceny and the receipt of the same stolen goods. 172 S.C. 453, 453, 174 S.E. 396, 396 ("While one may be *charged* in an indictment with both of these crimes, he cannot be *convicted* of both.") (emphasis added). In Hamilton, the defendant was not only charged with both offenses, the jury was specifically instructed it could convict him of both, which it did. Id. Petitioner, however, was charged only with possession of stolen goods, so there was never any possibility he would be convicted of both offenses.<sup>6</sup>

---

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